

Rodney Holmes Policy Submissions

A submission to the inquiry into the health impacts of alcohol and other drugs in Australia

December 2024



About RHPS

Rodney Holmes Policy Submissions is a Brisbane-based service that crafts credible and persuasive NGO policy submissions, for lodging to inquiries, reviews and consultations, that contribute to successful social policy outcomes.

For more information see: <u>https://rodneyholmespolicy.com.au</u>

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this submission are those of its author, Rodney Holmes, and do not necessarily represent the positions of any of my clients or employers.

A note about language

In this submission I use non-stigmatising language to describe people who use alcohol and other drugs (AOD) and people experiencing AOD harms, including AOD dependence, as recommended in AOD language guides.

The use of language about AOD is also influenced by my own personal lived experience of alcohol dependence. I recognise that people with lived experience of AOD use and harms, including AOD dependence, may self-identify using whatever language they feel comfortable with. (This does not justify the use of such self-identifying language in government, media, research or industry communications.)

A note about 'individual responsibility'

This submission advocates for a broadening of policy focus from the dominant populationbased approach, to include a targeted, individual-focus on people at highest risk of AOD harms, including people experiencing AOD dependence. It is critical to note this does not endorse the stigmatisation of these people by the alcohol industry and some politicians, using neoliberal *'individual responsibility'* framing intended to avoid evidence-based regulation.

The evidence and arguments for increasing the focus on people experiencing the greatest harms from AOD, including AOD dependence, cannot be cherry-picked away from the broader context, which includes the commercial determinants of health. These commercial determinants include the fundamental conflict-of-interest between profit-motivated harmful industries and their political influence on health policy.

Table of Contents

Executive summary	4
Recommendations	5
1. Valuing lived experience - more than just illustrating & inspiring	6
Rodney Holmes' lived experience	6
Lived experience frameworks & advisory groups	8
2. The culture of alcohol – normalise, glorify, glamorise, stigmatise & criminalise	∍9
Increasing alcohol harms	9
Centring alcohol in Australian life	10
Alcohol & politics	
AOD, stigma & the media	
Punitive approaches that criminalise AOD use & harms	11
3. The psychology of alcohol – mental health & alcohol dependence	12
Definitions of alcohol dependence	13
The greatest alcohol harms - misunderstood & ignored	
Psycho-social symptoms & impaired agency	14
4. Frameworks compared - guidelines, diagnostic tools & policies	
Physical & psycho-social domains	15
Comparing alcohol dependence frameworks	15
National alcohol guidelines	
Screening & assessment	
Exclusive focus on levels of alcohol use	17
5. Reductionist models underpin alcohol policies & marginalise dependence	
Ledermann & Skog's 'collectivity' or 'total consumption' model	18
Kreitman's 'prevention paradox'	
Becker & Murphy's 'rational addiction theory'	19
6. Neoliberal conflicts of interest, policy interference & 'individual responsibilit	y'20
Commercial determinants & industry conflicts of interest	
Neoliberal stigmatised 'individual responsibility'	21
7. Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) – misunderstood & misrepresented	22
AA in its own words	22
Accessible, voluntary, democratic, non-professional, non-affiliated & self-identifying	22
AA research & success rates	23
Criticism: abstinence, religion, agency, disease model, stigma, coercion & currency	24
8. Targeted & universal responses - resourced, co-ordinated & prioritised	26
Resourcing treatment & prevention	
Co-ordinating AOD & mental health services	
Balanced prioritisation: targeted & universal approaches	27
Conclusion	28
References	29

Executive summary

"Addiction remains one of the least understood and discussed public health issues"¹

This inquiry provides an important opportunity to hear both from people with lived experience of alcohol and other drugs (AOD) and from people with AOD policy expertise. I have both. I have experienced alcohol dependence and recovery and have worked in alcohol policy for years. I am uniquely positioned to draw on both in responding to this inquiry.

Australians should be able to enjoy health, safety and wellbeing. Yet, despite what alcohol companies might claim, harms from alcohol in Australia are significant and continue to increase. Alcohol costs 4,700 lives² and \$67 billion³ a year in Australia, which is currently experiencing the highest rates of alcohol-induced deaths in over 20 years.⁴

Why is alcohol still causing so much harm, when the population is using it less overall?

- Why are people with lived experience of alcohol harms rarely directly involved in alcohol policy and program development? (See section **1. Valuing lived experience**.)
- Why do politicians and media centre alcohol use in Australian culture, while stigmatising alcohol harms to support punitive policies? (See section **2. Culture of alcohol**.)
- Why do we use one-size-fits-all measures designed for the general population, intending to reduce alcohol harms for people experiencing dependence with impaired decision-making agency? (See section **3. Psychology of alcohol**.)
- Why do we focus almost exclusively on the different levels of alcohol use for understanding and responding to alcohol dependence, when the determinants and the diagnostic criteria, are psycho-social? (See section **4. Frameworks compared**.)

The inquiry terms of reference focus mainly on AOD treatment service delivery. This submission reflects on the lived and professional experience of someone on both sides of AOD service delivery. It also addresses systems and frameworks used to understand and develop responses to AOD harms. The scope of this submission is primarily *alcohol* use and harms, especially alcohol dependence, to reflect my personal and professional experience and knowledge. However, where appropriate, I will also address broader AOD use and harms.

How can we best reduce alcohol harms for people experiencing alcohol dependence? What can governments do differently to better prevent significant harm from alcohol?

- Is it time to abandon contested models of alcohol use distribution that support deliberately deprioritising people with alcohol dependence who experience some of the greatest alcohol harms? (See section **5. Reductionist models**.)
- Why should alcohol companies (that donate millions to major political parties) get to influence alcohol laws and regulate their own saturated marketing of their harmful products? (See section **6. Neoliberal conflicts of interest**.)
- Why do voluntary, abstinence-based approaches trigger such antagonism from some AOD professionals and researchers? (See section **7. Alcoholics Anonymous**.)
- Why don't Australian governments properly fund AOD and mental health treatment services, despite a demonstrated return on investment? How can we better co-ordinate targeted policies and programs alongside population-level alcohol policies and programs? (See section **8. Universal + targeted**.)

Policymakers and decision-makers need to value, accept, understand, prioritise and support people experiencing AOD use and AOD harms. This will prevent those AOD harms from being normalised, glorified, glamorised, stigmatised, marginalised and criminalised.

I thank the Standing Committee on Health, Aged Care and Sport for the opportunity to make this submission to the '*Inquiry into the health impacts of alcohol and other drugs in Australia*'.

Recommendations

Rodney Holmes Policy Submissions recommends:

1. Valuing lived experience - more than just illustrating & inspiring

Recommendation 1. Develop AOD lived experience frameworks in all jurisdictions.

Recommendation 2. Establish a network of AOD lived experience advisory groups across Australia, with the engaged participation of appropriately supported and compensated lived experience advocates, providing them with access to influence AOD policies and programs.

2. The culture of alcohol – normalise, glorify, glamorise, stigmatise & criminalise

Recommendation 3. Implement de-stigmatising language requirements for government, industry, research and media to prevent glamorising alcohol harms and to prevent stigmatising people experiencing alcohol dependence.

Recommendation 4. Discontinue alcohol policies and programs targeting people experiencing alcohol dependence that are coercive and criminalising.

3. The psychology of alcohol - mental health & alcohol dependence

Recommendation 5. Implement harm reduction policy and program measures specifically addressing alcohol dependence, that consider its psycho-social domains.

4. Frameworks compared - guidelines, diagnostic tools & policies

Recommendation 6. Commission ongoing data collection, (eg. AIHW National Drug Strategy Household Survey), that incorporates broader measures than just levels of alcohol use or AUDIT-C data, eg. full AUDIT with psycho-social domains.

Recommendation 7. Expand the National alcohol guidelines beyond levels of use for adults, children and people who are pregnant or breastfeeding, by incorporating an evidence-based recommendation for people experiencing alcohol dependence and other mental ill-health.

5. Reductionist models underpin alcohol policies & marginalise dependence

Recommendation 8. Commission research to build alternate psycho-social models of alcohol use and harms beyond an exclusive focus on levels of use, to replace contested, reductionist models that have diverted policy attention away from people at the highest risk of harms.

6. Neoliberal conflicts of interest, policy interference & 'individual responsibility'

Recommendation 9. Prohibit political donations and lobbying from harmful industries, including alcohol companies.

Recommendation 10. Establish comprehensive and effective conflict of interest policies to prevent policy interference by alcohol companies.

7. Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) – misunderstood & misrepresented

Recommendation 11. Publish accurate information about AA, its principles and practices, (including research evidence of its success), to facilitate best practice research, policymaking, program design and co-ordination, (including referral pathways) for alcohol dependence.

8. Targeted & universal responses - resourced, co-ordinated & prioritised

Recommendation 12. Ensure adequate funding (secure and indexed), co-ordination and governance for AOD and mental health sectors. Ensure people have equitable access to culturally responsive, trauma-informed and non-stigmatising treatment and support.

Recommendation 13. Implement alcohol policies and programs with a mix of both universal, population-based and targeted, individual approaches.

Valuing lived experience - more than just illustrating & inspiring

Why are people with lived experience of alcohol harms rarely directly involved in alcohol policy and program development?

Rodney Holmes' lived experience

My life experiences provide unique perspectives to understand alcohol harms and responses:

1. Lived experience of alcohol dependence and recovery

Experiencing alcohol dependence and recovery has been a significant, life-threatening and lifechanging process. I experienced physical, mental, social, relational, work and financial harms. My story represents only my own experience. However, active participation in a peer-based organisation for many years exposed me to the stories of many hundreds of other people. This allowed me to observe the similarities and common themes. It also gives me an intuitive sense about alcohol policy and its impact on people with lived experience of alcohol dependence.

2. Professional experience in AOD support

I worked professionally for some years in social services, including helping support the recovery of people from alcohol dependence. This gave me further insights into people's individual journeys, some effective pathways and unique organisational models of peer-based recovery.

3. Professional experience in alcohol policy

My postgraduate studies in public policy, and my professional policy experience, (including working with AOD peak bodies), provided formal frameworks about the diverse, evidence-based responses to AOD use and harms. I have developed over 50 policy submissions for various organisations to inquiries, reviews and consultations, including on alcohol policy. My lived experience interacted with various conceptual frameworks used in alcohol policy that helped structure my curiosity and research.

My lived experience story of alcohol dependence & recovery

Purpose. I am very grateful that I have not had the need to use alcohol for almost 25 years. I share my story of alcohol dependence for a few reasons:

- 1. for identification for people who may know someone struggling with dependence,
- 2. to help reduce the stigma and shame associated with dependence,
- 3. to challenge the portrayal in marketing, media and politics, that alcohol must somehow be central to every part of Australian life: normalising, glamorising or stigmatising it.
- 4. to inform research, policies and programs, not just to illustrate or inspire.

Background. I didn't fit some stereotypes of alcohol dependence, as I didn't use alcohol until my mid-20s. But I did end up using alcohol excessively and compulsively for many years. I began drinking in the late 1980s, and gradually increased my use with home brewed beer, wine club deliveries and many solo work trips interstate and overseas in the 1990s.

Geographical isolation. My inability to stop drinking, led me to deny and hide my dependence, and move interstate from Sydney to Brisbane to escape the scrutiny of family and friends. The very things I needed to be well, that is: *connection with people* and the ability to *think clearly* – were both seriously damaged and distorted by my alcohol dependence.

Progression. I graduated from beer to wine to spirits, increasing the quantity, frequency and consequences. My alcohol dependence became a terrifying and exhausting nightmare, deeply damaging to all aspects of my life: my family, my work and my mental and physical health. I had

significant relationship and financial problems. I experienced anxiety and depression. I was often physically unwell with searing gut pain, heart palpitations, memory blackouts, disturbed sleep and auditory hallucinations.

If you do something that hurts and harms, then you stop - but not with addiction. If you're sick, you simply go to the doctor - but not with addiction. The illness keeps making you sicker and also prevents you from seeking the help you need to get well.

Mental obsession. The physical unwellness, emotional shame and mental anguish led to extreme desperation. Dependence was an overwhelming, powerful obsession locking out other considerations. If I wasn't drinking, I was thinking about drinking. If I wasn't drunk, I was miserable. Eventually, alcohol became the most important thing in my life. No matter what else was going on, the thought of where and when I would get my next drink was always top of my mind. Trying to juggle life responsibilities alongside my alcohol obsession was overwhelming.

Wide ranging harms. I often went against my own values – my behaviour was unacceptable to me and others. My own self-criticism was usually worse than anything anyone else could say to me. I was barely able to hide my drinking from my family. Thankfully, I did not become physically violent with people but was so with furniture on occasions. I couldn't do anything sober. I was a so-called 'functioning alcoholic' – still somehow working and part of a family. But my world had narrowed significantly to drinking, earning money to drink, and trying to hold on to my family, believing I would simply die without them.

Futile attempts to control or quit. I finally acknowledged to my wife that I was an alcoholic – but without a clue about what to do about it, except keep drinking. I tried many times to quit or cut back on my own, but was never able to keep it up, despite trying many suggestions about times of day / week, or never alone / never at home. I would try giving promises, car keys and credit cards to my wife, but nothing ever worked.

I had no capacity to respond positively to any public health messaging.

Baffling. I was totally baffled by my reaction to this substance. Why did I obsessively go back, again and again, to something I knew was so damaging to me and others? Although I knew the stereotype of 'alcoholics', the increasing shame and isolation meant that I did not know anyone else personally who used alcohol the way I did. Alcohol didn't even make me feel good anymore! It did the opposite of what the alcohol ads promised. I drank to feel good but felt bad; I drank to relax but got the shakes; I drank to remove inhibition and became isolated; I drank to gain confidence but got anxious; I drank for inspiration but became brain fogged.

Downward spiral. I experienced the vicious spiral of using alcohol to relax, only to have it make me more anxious. The worse I felt, the more I would drink, which made me feel even worse. My first thought every morning was a drink, and first action when experiencing a bad hangover was the 'hair of the dog' 'medicine' to treat the problem with the very thing that had caused it. I continued to have an overwhelming urge to use it, despite feeling no relief from it anymore.

Rock bottom. I had a blood test which showed my liver was seriously affected by my drinking, but was simply put on anti-depressants, which required abstinence to work, which I couldn't achieve. I wasn't safe to travel by myself and had to have my family accompany me on business trips. I finally experienced a *'rock bottom'* in a hotel room in Canberra, on a work trip in 2000. During that week, I knew for certain, that if I kept drinking that I would die, but I also knew, just as certainly, that it was completely impossible for me to stop drinking. I was totally isolated and was suicidal. I was convinced that I had lost both my family and my business.

Rehab and relief. I was finally able to seek help, and I ended up in a Sydney rehab in mid-2000. I was introduced to clinical treatment and peer-based support. *Firstly*, I experienced an enormous relief in realising that this was a 'thing', it wasn't just defective me. There is a mental

health condition called 'Alcohol Use Disorder', which is not just about how much you drink – but the affect it has on you. I was a sick person needing to get well, not a bad person needing to become good. And *second*ly, I realised I was not alone. I discovered there were plenty of people just like me who experienced the harms and overwhelming contradictions of alcohol dependence. I had some hope, but not confidence, and decided to give it a try.

Recovery and sense of community. I found enormous diversity among the people in recovery and made many new friends. I identified strongly with hearing other people's stories, and it convinced me that recovery was possible. I was too scared not to do the suggestions that others had followed, so when I returned to Brisbane, I quickly committed to actively following a peerbased recovery program.

Everything changed. Recovering from dependence led to big changes in my life, as I continued to access both therapy and peer support. Despite all the damage it had done, alcohol had been my best friend (as well as my worst enemy), so there was a period of mourning the absence of alcohol, despite the relief. Some damage continued after I got sober. I experienced both divorce and bankruptcy in early sobriety. After living on the disability pension for a year, I worked in social services, did postgraduate study, which led to working in policy for the past 8 years.

Things got better. While dependence caused some permanent harms, recovery has also brought ongoing benefits. Life is not without struggles and challenges, but it always has a way forward with some strengths, wisdom and optimism that may never have been there without having gone through dependence and recovery. Recovery allowed me to rebuild relationships and develop personally, especially with my daughters, who now have their own families, and my partner of 14 years who has never seen me drink.

What it's like now. Most of the time I'm pretty content, and I don't ever think alcohol can solve a problem. "*Nothing is so bad, that alcohol can't make it worse*". I continue to access mental health support as needed. Other people's drinking doesn't usually bother me. We often have alcohol in the house for my partner and visitors. I am grateful every day that alcohol dependence didn't kill me as it did others I've known.

Lived experience frameworks & advisory groups

Lived, or living, experience of AOD use and harms has been an important and effective part of responding to, and recovering from AOD harms, ever since the original AOD 'peer-workforce' in Alcoholics Anonymous (AA). (See Section 7. Alcoholics Anonymous).

Valuing, accepting, understanding, prioritising and supporting people with lived experience of AOD use and harms can help prevent AOD harms. Our AOD lived experience is an essential part of the expert evidence for informing and contributing directly to policy and program development. Our intuitive, authentic insights can contribute key questioning and reality sensetesting for policy ideas, approaches and measures.

Lived experience is especially vital in evaluating theoretical models developed by scholars.

These contributions can directly benefit the likely effectiveness of alcohol policy outcomes. Lived experience should be genuinely involved and accommodated early in the design and development of programs and policies, in line with the public participation spectrum, (inform, consult, involve, collaborate and empower).⁵

However, until now, the lived experience of people who have experienced AOD use and AOD harms has been regularly used to illustrate or promote policies and programs that they often had no influence over.⁶ People with lived experience of alcohol harms are also regularly stigmatised by industry and some politicians in their neoliberal *'individual responsibility'* narratives, (see Section 6).

Lived experience is necessarily diverse, unique and individualistic. Lived experience advocates may contribute in one or more of three ways:⁷

- 1. Self-advocacy expressing their own interests, needs and rights: "I speak for myself"
- 2. **Individual advocacy** walking beside an individual while supporting them to be well informed and their responses heard and listened to: "*I support you to speak for yourself*"
- 3. **Systemic advocacy** representing and advocating for the interests of a group for improvements in policies and programs: "*I speak for members of my peer group*"

Lived experience advocacy includes participation in lived experience advisory groups that exist for various issues including domestic, family and sexual violence (DFSV), mental health, disability and poverty. Besides elevating the voices of people with lived experience, these groups can provide opportunities to directly contribute to new policy and program approaches.

One example of this is the Queensland Lived Experience (Peer) Workforce Leadership Group (LEWLG), which is a group of strategic-level senior Lived Experience professionals, working in Hospital and Health Service mental health and AOD services across Queensland. The LEWLG was established in 2005 at a Statewide level to facilitate opportunities for collaboration and support across the workforce, especially for smaller, solo, and rural and remote teams.⁸

There are National and State frameworks for mental health lived experience which are primarily for lived experience (peer) workforces. However, the National Framework, and most of the States, exclude AOD lived experience (peer) workforces. This is due to a lack of funding and pervasive stigma creating barriers to the development of the AOD experience workforce.⁹ Only the WA framework specifically includes AOD lived experience (peer) workforces.¹⁰

Recommendation 1. Develop AOD lived experience frameworks in all jurisdictions.

Recommendation 2. Establish a network of AOD lived experience advisory groups across Australia, with the engaged participation of appropriately supported and compensated lived experience advocates, providing them with access to influence AOD policies and programs.

2. The culture of alcohol – normalise, glorify, glamorise, stigmatise & criminalise

Why do politicians and media centre alcohol use in Australian culture, while stigmatising alcohol harms to support punitive policies?

Increasing alcohol harms

The Australian population is using less alcohol overall, with the proportion of those reporting no past year use steadily increasing since 2001 (18% vs. 23%). There are also declines in the number of people who use alcohol daily (6.5% to 5.9%), weekly (37.3% to 35.8%), and an increase in those who use alcohol less than weekly (34.5% to 35.8%).¹¹

However, the harms from alcohol continue to increase in Australia. 4,700 people a year die in Australia from alcohol-attributable causes,¹² and Australia has recently been experiencing the highest rates of alcohol-induced deaths in over 20 years.¹³ Alcohol is an addictive substance related to multiple mental health conditions, including alcohol dependence. Alcohol is the most common drug of concern in AOD treatment, (comprising 43% of treatment episodes),¹⁴ and causing 53% of all AOD hospitalisations.¹⁵

Alcohol contributes significantly to Australia's healthcare and non-healthcare economic costs, costing \$67 billion a year.¹⁶ Overall health burden of disease attributable to alcohol as measured by disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) was 238,262 DALYs in 2024, or 4.1%.¹⁷

The health impacts of alcohol include hospitalisation and deaths from injury and other acute and chronic diseases, like cancer and mental ill-health. Alcohol is a carcinogen, causing at least seven types of cancer, including mouth, throat, oesophagus, liver, breast and bowel cancer.¹⁸ Alcohol also causes alcohol-related brain injury and Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). FASD is a lifelong disability describing a range of neuro-developmental impairments that impact on the brain and body of individuals prenatally exposed to alcohol.¹⁹

Alcohol-related harms go beyond physical and mental health. They also include social harms and harms to others (injuries, violence, risky behaviour, relationship and work problems).

Centring alcohol in Australian life

Alcohol is deeply enmeshed in Australian culture, playing a seemingly unavoidable, central role in social life, apparently essential to connecting, celebrating and unwinding. High-risk alcohol use, often encouraged and praised, is particularly tied to masculine norms, where it is seen as key to mateship and character. This widespread acceptance has made Australian culture dependent on alcohol as a defining feature of the country's identity.

Alcohol saturates nearly every social and online occasion, from celebrations and sporting events to casual gatherings and work functions. Alcohol is a staple, expected and present at most events, whether parties, weddings or funerals, leaving few opportunities for entertainment or socialising without it. You don't even have to leave your home to be bombarded with alcohol ads or online drinking games.

Any criticism of alcohol use is often dismissed as strict, moralistic and puritanical, with those opposing it being labelled as '*wowsers*'. This stereotype, perpetuated through media has made it difficult for people to challenge the widespread availability of alcohol without facing social stigma. As a result, Australians are generally uncomfortable with those who choose not to use alcohol, viewing it as a rejection of social norms, despite claiming that alcohol use is a personal choice - when it is more of a cultural expectation than a genuine freedom.²⁰

Alcohol & politics

Politics and alcohol are so closely entwined that we now have well-established alcohol-related political customs and processes. These include pub-based political campaigning and election events, 'politics in the pub', the 'pub test' and alcohol industry political donations.

Alcohol-based political campaigning

Politicians play a key role in perpetuating Australia's drinking culture, with the longstanding stigma of '*wowserism*' deterring critical discussion of alcohol or its regulation. Debates on alcohol policy are often prefaced by politicians repeating industry slogans to '*drink responsibly*' to avoid being accused of being overly restrictive or promoting a '*nanny state*'. In recent years, pubs have shifted from being venues of political activism to stages for political theatrics, with politicians using them as settings to appear more relatable during election campaigns.²¹

Leading politicians embrace alcohol as part of their public persona, often skolling a beer for the cameras at various events, symbolising their connection with voters. These moments reflect the use of alcohol-related theatre to engage with the public and bolster their political image.

The 'pub test' and 'politics in the pub'

The 'pub test' is an Australian concept suggesting that complex ideas or policies should be understandable to the 'ordinary person', similar to the legal idea of a '*reasonable person*'. While it has been a longstanding tradition, critics argue it is an ineffective and exclusionary tool for public engagement. Some point out that pubs have not historically been inclusive spaces, making the pub test a poor measure for involving non-experts in important discussions. While

politicians frequently invoke the pub test, it may not accurately reflect public opinion or contribute to meaningful debate.²²

Historically, hotels were venues of political activism and strategising. They are also being used to host what seems to be intended as 'community-based' political conversations, known as '*politics in the pub*', often involving politicians. Once again this may actually be more exclusionary to the many who do not drink or who do not feel comfortable in a pub setting.²³

Alcohol harms in parliament

Recent alcohol politics have focused on the drinking culture in Canberra, particularly in Parliament, where a 'boozy workplace' environment has persisted without proper restrictions. Parliament and other workplaces need to be more inclusive, considering women, people from diverse backgrounds, and those who abstain or prefer not to be around intoxicated colleagues. The issue gained significant attention after the 2021 Jenkins review, which identified the drinking culture as a safety concern.²⁴ The review called for better regulation of alcohol use in Parliament, leading to a draft code of conduct currently being finalised. While the new policy will promote 'responsible' alcohol use, it won't impose enforceable rules.

Political responses to alcohol and gendered violence

In September 2024, the Prime Minister chaired a National Cabinet meeting focused on accelerating change under the National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women, with one of the key areas being the impact of alcohol. State and Territory First Ministers agreed to review alcohol laws and their effects on family and domestic violence victims, with the aim of identifying best practices, implementing reforms, and reporting back on progress.²⁵

In December 2024, South Australia was the first jurisdiction to act on this commitment,²⁶ implementing the '*Rapid Review of Prevention Approaches to End Gender-Based Violence*' recommendations.²⁷ These included having clear primary objectives to prevent gendered violence and restricting alcohol sales and delivery timeframes.

AOD, stigma & the media

Commercial media have even less restraint than politicians when it comes to stigmatising alcohol harms. Stigma, misunderstanding and fear about AOD use are often the basis of hostile AOD representation in media narratives. This can lead to the community rejecting those struggling with AOD dependence and social services may resist offering supportive services to those who would have benefited greatly from them. Ironically, these attitudes prolong the issues faced by people using AOD, creating barriers to treatment access. The media is perpetuating the thing it claims to be against - unhealthy individuals using AOD in self-destructive ways.²⁸

Media representations of alcohol-related issues tend to align more closely with the interests of the alcohol industry than with scientific public health recommendations. The media largely downplays negative consequences of alcohol, normalising high-risk alcohol use, and providing limited coverage of public health measures.²⁹ This frames people experiencing alcohol dependence with admiration (normalise / glamorise), or ridicule and public shaming (stigmatise / criminalise), monetising their health issues. There are several AOD language guides that can be applied to government, industry, research and media, to help prevent this stigmatisation.^{30,31}

Punitive approaches that criminalise AOD use & harms

Paradox of prohibition vs. regulation

11

Political action on reducing alcohol harms is challenging enough when the powerful stigma of alcohol harms is just too attractive to politicians wanting to capitalise on it, (also motivated by alcohol company political donations). It is further complicated by requiring enough nuance to

avoid ineffective extremes to achieve effective responses. These extremes are complete prohibition (leading to unregulated criminal market) on the one hand, and complete deregulation of a commercial market, (recklessly exploiting alcohol harms for profit without restrictions), on the other. This nuanced balance is known as the '*Prohibition Paradox*'.³²

For example, the Brisbane Lord Mayor recently conflated regulation with criminalisation, saying *"it was ironic the Greens supported decriminalisation of hard drugs but were against one celebratory drink"*.³³

Criminalising AOD policies and programs

The counter-productive war on drugs has cast a long criminalising shadow over responses to AOD harms – broadening and deepening the harms from AOD. Australia spends twice as much on AOD law enforcement than on prevention, treatment and harm reduction combined.³⁴

"The War on Drugs is a global genocide. Far from reducing drug-related harms, criminalisation instead makes every aspect of the trade exponentially more dangerous, with toxic and unregulated supply leading to ever-growing rates of fatal poisonings, state and extrajudicial killings, underground violence, and mass incarceration."³⁵

Yet the harms from the criminalisation of AOD are not limited just to illicit drugs. Alcohol is one of the most popular, legal drugs, yet its use and harms are also often criminalised. Examples of punitive criminalisation of alcohol harms, especially alcohol dependence, include:

- Criminalising people with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD), leading to the overrepresentation of people with FASD detained in the criminal justice system,³⁶
- framing people accessing social security as committing 'welfare-fuelled violence', forcing them onto the Cashless Debit Card that restricts access to alcohol,³⁷
- automating the criminalisation and net-widening of alcohol dependence using electronic monitoring with trans-dermal alcohol testing, and³⁸
- banned drinker registers (BDR) identifying and stigmatising people experiencing alcohol dependence, as an ineffective punitive, rather than a health-based, response.³⁹

The use of stigmatising narratives by media, backed by the alcohol industry, creates an incentive for politicians to use alcohol harm stigma for political advantage. The false '*tough on crime*' narrative pushed by outrage-clickbait media at elections drive politicians towards punitive alcohol policies. This has been especially evident in the recent 2024 Northern Territory and Queensland elections.⁴⁰

Recommendation 3. Implement de-stigmatising language requirements for government, industry, research and media to prevent glamorising alcohol harms and to prevent stigmatising people experiencing alcohol dependence.

Recommendation 4. Discontinue alcohol policies and programs targeting people experiencing alcohol dependence that are coercive and criminalising.

3. The psychology of alcohol – mental health & alcohol dependence

Why do we use one-size-fits-all measures designed for the general population, intending to reduce alcohol harms for people experiencing dependence with impaired decision-making agency?

Alcohol is not just a toxic, carcinogenic substance causing physical harms, including harms to others, it is also addictive, with significant mental health harmful impacts. Yet addiction,

including alcohol dependence, remains one of the least understood and discussed public health issues.⁴¹

Definitions of alcohol dependence

The latest data from the National Drug Strategy Household Survey indicates that almost one in ten Australians (9.2%) who use alcohol, may be experiencing an alcohol dependence issue.⁴²

Alcohol dependence, also known as alcohol use disorder (AUD), is a mental ill-health condition, described in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) of Mental Disorders. Unfortunately, it is quite common in alcohol research and policy, to conflate alcohol dependence simply with high levels of alcohol use, ignoring the psychology of alcohol dependence. This has significant implications for understanding and developing effective responses to alcohol dependence.

The mental health condition of alcohol dependence is similar to, and different from, other alcohol and mental health issues in various ways. The social and psychological aspects of AUD, such as tolerance, withdrawal, cravings, memory, impulse control, and risk-taking, contribute to an understanding of the relationship between alcohol and mental health.

The criteria for alcohol dependence have evolved somewhat over the decades. The previous 1994 version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) contained two categories of 'Alcohol Abuse' and 'Alcohol Dependence'. The current 2013 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM–5) merged these two categories into one of 'Alcohol Use Disorder', retaining most of the diagnostic criteria from the previous two:

DSM-5 (2013) Diagnostic Criteria for Alcohol Use Disorder (p. 490-491)⁴³

Alcohol use disorder (AUD) is a problematic pattern of alcohol use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress, as manifested by at least 2 of the following, occurring within 12 months:

- 1. Alcohol is often taken in larger amounts or over a longer period than was intended.
- 2. There is a persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to cut down or control alcohol use.
- 3. A great deal of time is spent in activities necessary to obtain alcohol, use alcohol, or recover from its effects.
- 4. Craving, or a strong desire or urge to use alcohol.
- 5. Recurrent alcohol use resulting in a failure to fulfill role obligations at work, school, or home.
- 6. Continued alcohol use despite having persistent or recurrent social or interpersonal problems caused or exacerbated by the effects of alcohol.
- 7. Important social, occupational, or recreational activities are given up or reduced because of alcohol use.
- 8. Recurrent alcohol use in situations in which it is physically hazardous.
- 9. Alcohol use is continued despite knowledge of having a persistent or recurrent physical or psychological problem that is likely to have been caused or exacerbated by alcohol.
- 10. Tolerance, as defined by either of the following: a. a need for markedly increased amounts of alcohol to achieve intoxication or desired effect b. a markedly diminished effect with continued use of the same amount of alcohol.
- 11. Withdrawal, as manifested by either of the following: a. the characteristic withdrawal syndrome for alcohol b. alcohol is taken to relieve or avoid withdrawal symptoms.

Turning Point's '*Rethink Addiction*' provides a broad definition of addiction / dependence:

"What is Addiction? Addiction is one of the most misunderstood health conditions.⁴⁴

- Addiction is a chronic health condition that occurs when someone is unable to stop consuming a drug or activity, even if it is causing physical or psychological harm, or affecting their life.
- Addiction is a major contributor to the burden of disease in Australia, and a leading preventable cause of injury, illness and death.
- Addiction does not discriminate it affects young and older Australians from all communities, yet it remains one of the least understood and discussed public health issues

- Overcoming addiction is not simply about having good intentions or greater willpower, and such stigmatising views stop people reaching out for help.
- Nobody chooses to become addicted. There are biological, environmental, and life experience-related vulnerabilities that predispose people to addiction. Isolation, pain and trauma are the leading causes.
- Addiction can be successfully managed with the right treatment and support. People who get help can achieve recovery, prevent relapse and experience an improved quality of life.
- People living with addiction often face a range of other health and social challenges, yet they are required to navigate a fragmented system to find the right type of treatment and support. We need to make getting help much easier."

People understand intoxication: if you use a certain amount of alcohol, you become temporarily physically and mentally impaired, which risks injuries, vehicle crashes, drownings and poisonings, resulting in disability, chronic pain, trauma and death. Once explained, people can comprehend the various chronic diseases that alcohol causes such cirrhosis, heart disease, cancer, FASD, dementia. There are many primary prevention programs such as public awareness campaigns and public health policies, to reduce the risk of these illnesses.

Yet somehow, perhaps partly because of the complex and sometimes paradoxical psychological basis of alcohol dependence, it seems quite baffling to many – including those of us with personal lived experience of it. Some paradoxes associated with alcohol include the *'prohibition paradox'* and the *'harm paradox'*. Alcohol dependence has received very little specific policy attention beyond being exploited and stigmatised by alcohol companies and some politicians, and its treatment services being chronically underfunded.

The greatest alcohol harms - misunderstood & ignored

The greatest alcohol-related harms occur to people experiencing alcohol dependence.

People experiencing alcohol dependence are at risk of experiencing the same alcohol-related harms as people without dependence, plus significant additional (physical, psychological and social) harms of alcohol dependence.⁴⁵ Alcohol dependence is responsible for the greatest burden of disease within the alcohol category of health impacts.⁴⁶ Yet despite the significantly higher levels of harms associated with alcohol dependence, it remains the most misunderstood types of alcohol harm.

Responses to these significant harms are also deliberately minimised and marginalised due to unrealistic, reductionist models of the relationship between alcohol use and alcohol harms, (see *the 'Prevention Paradox'* in Section 5). These disputed models position most people, (who are not experiencing alcohol dependence or high-risk use of alcohol), as carrying the greater *collective* burden of alcohol harm, and therefore requiring the priority attention.

Yet, as discussed in Section 8, population-based public health messaging is not as effective at reducing harms for people using alcohol at high-risk levels.⁴⁷ The messaging works for people who use alcohol at low-risk levels who consequently use even less, but with smaller change in individual harms, while people using alcohol at high-risk levels are less responsive to messaging and high rates of alcohol harm continue. Alcohol policy and programs must be a mix of measures aimed at the population and at individuals (see Section 8).⁴⁸

Psycho-social symptoms & impaired agency

Current alcohol policy and program measures are primarily population focused. This includes both structural policy measures (price, promotion and availability) and public education campaigns (providing people with information to influence them to make healthier choices about alcohol use). This approach is an effective way to reduce alcohol harms for people who do not experience alcohol dependence or other mental ill-health.

However, this exclusive population-focus does not seem to acknowledge or make allowances for the role of impaired agency with alcohol dependence. As a result, people experiencing the greatest harms from alcohol dependence are largely missed by both public health messaging, and alcohol policy settings. Several of the dependence diagnostic domains, (see Section 4), describe psycho-social symptoms that impair people's decision-making capacity and make it challenging for them to respond positively to public health messaging. As a result, individuals experiencing the greatest alcohol harms lie largely outside the reach of 'choice-based' policy.⁴⁹

In addition to this policy gap, there are challenges in navigating service systems. Navigating fragmented AOD service systems can be challenging for anyone. However, people experiencing alcohol dependence have to face these challenges with impaired decision-making, (like people navigating mental health service systems). This leads to a significant gap between people meeting the criteria for dependence, and people accessing AOD treatment, (see Section 8).⁵⁰

Recommendation 5. Implement harm reduction policy and program measures specifically addressing alcohol dependence, that consider its psycho-social domains.

4. Frameworks compared - guidelines, diagnostic tools & policies

Why do we focus almost exclusively on the different levels of alcohol use for understanding and responding to alcohol dependence, when the determinants and the diagnostic criteria, are psycho-social?

As discussed in the previous section, alcohol dependence is complex and paradoxical. This is due to its causes and symptoms being a combination of inter-acting psycho-social factors.

Physical & psycho-social domains

The diagnostic guidelines, screening and assessment tools used by AOD professionals in supporting people experiencing alcohol dependence span a range of psycho-social domains:

- 1. Volume (dose) and frequency of alcohol use (most common & often exclusive measure)
- 2. Direct physical impact (cancer, diabetes, liver, injuries)
- 3. Physical dependence symptoms (tolerance, withdrawal, cravings, memory)
- 4. Psychological dependence (impulse control: inability to reduce / stop)
- 5. Behavioural change (risk-taking, unable to do normal tasks)
- 6. Social / relational (concerns, financial, legal, work / study problems)
- 7. Emotional impact (guilt, shame, remorse, envy, resentment, anger)

The specific elements of each framework, guidelines, and tools within these domains, are shown in the comparison table below.

Comparing alcohol dependence frameworks

Alcohol guidelines, assessment tools and diagnostic criteria, each have a somewhat different (if overlapping) scope and purpose. The guidelines usually have a population-focus, whereas assessment tools and diagnostic criteria have an individual-focus. Only the AUD screening and diagnostic tools, (full AUDIT and ASSIST tools and DSM-5 diagnostic criteria), focus primarily on alcohol dependence. However, all these frameworks aim to reduce alcohol harm, draw on the same evidence base, and should not be counter-productive to each other.

The 'Australian Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems' acknowledges some of these similarities and differences: "there are two major approaches to diagnosis, ICD and DSM, that offer both areas of agreement and of difference."⁵¹

	1. Use volume / frequency	2. Direct physical impact	3. Physical dependence symptoms	4. Psychological dependence	5. Behavioural change	6. Social / relational	7. Emotional impact		
NHMRC National Guidelines ⁵²	Yes, 3 guidelines	(Inferred)	None	None	None	None	None		
AUDIT-C tool (3 questions) ⁵³	Yes, 3 questions	(Inferred)	None	None	None	None	None		
AUDIT tool (10 questions) ⁵⁴	Yes, 3 questions	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 2 questions	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1 question		
ASSIST-Lite tool (3 questions) ⁵⁵	Yes, 1 question	None	None	Yes, 1 question	None	Yes, 1 question	None		
ASSIST tool (7 relevant questions) ⁵⁶	Yes, 2 questions	Yes, 0.5 question	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1.5 question	None		
DSM-IV 1994 Abuse / Dependence (11 criteria) ⁵⁷	None	None	Yes, 3 questions	Yes, 3 questions	Yes, 4 questions	Yes, 1 question	None		
DSM-5 2013 Alcohol Use Disorder (11 criteria) ⁵⁸	None	None	Yes, 4 questions	Yes, 3 questions	Yes, 4 questions	None	None		
Is AA for You? (12 questions) ⁵⁹	None	Yes, 0.5 question	Yes, 2 questions	Yes, 5 questions	Yes, 1 question	Yes, 1.5 questions	Yes, 2 questions		

Comparing the focus of NHMRC, AUDIT, ASSIST, DSM & AA

National alcohol guidelines

The National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) acknowledges that alcohol effects are '*different for each person*'⁶⁰, however, the '*Australian Guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol*'⁶¹ are standardised, population-level recommendations. The guidelines provide a recommended number (volume / frequency) of standard drinks, based on population-level evidence, differentiated by gender, age and pregnancy only, but not by dependence. This omits any consideration of the above psycho-social symptoms, and it omits explicitly promoting abstinence, (other than for pregnancy and breastfeeding).

Screening & assessment

One validated assessment tool for alcohol dependence is the 10-question 'Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test' (AUDIT) developed by the World Health Organisation (WHO). A common screening version of this tool used in clinical practice and academic research is the AUDIT-C,⁶² which has 3 Questions (the first three of the ten AUDIT questions), all exclusively about *volume and frequency* of alcohol use. Whilst AUDIT-C is believed to be an indicator of alcohol dependence,⁶³ there are disagreements about its accuracy⁶⁴. The effectiveness of many program interventions is evaluated using AUDIT-C. The Treatment Guidelines recommend that the AUDIT instrument is the most effective screening tool available and is recommended for primary care and hospital populations.⁶⁵

The full 10-question AUDIT tool (and the ASSIST tool) better reflects and overlaps with other Diagnostic Criteria than the shorter AUDIT-C. These criteria include the 11 symptoms listed in the DSM–5 for Alcohol Use Disorder (AUD), and with the 12 Questions in "Is AA for You?". The

NHMRC Guidelines and the AUDIT-C, which focus exclusively on level of alcohol use, contrast starkly with the DSM-5 and AA questions which have no criteria for levels of alcohol use.

The International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) adapted its coding to accommodate the diversity of alcohol-related illness, and to differentiate between disorders and risk factors. There are numerous physical and psychological illnesses that list alcohol as a direct contributor. The ICD has included indirect physical harm such as self-injuries but doesn't classify any other social or behavioural impacts such as financial, legal, employment or relationship problems.

Exclusive focus on levels of alcohol use

The risk of alcohol harm is associated with a spectrum of alcohol use; from abstinence to 'moderate' (low risk), to 'excessive' (high risk / problematic) to 'dependent'. For many decades there has been an almost exclusive focus on the *level* of alcohol use (volume and frequency), in alcohol policy and advocacy. Public health policy talks about reducing '*levels*' of alcohol use to reduce risks of alcohol harm. Most population-level, public health policy responses focus on this reduction primarily through three of the five WHO SAFER '*high-impact, evidence-based, cost-effective interventions*': price, promotion and availability.

This focus is based on the evidence that increased levels of alcohol use do increase the risk of harms, and that reducing use reduces risk harms.⁶⁶ It is also based on contested models proposing that different levels of alcohol use across populations, (low-risk, high-risk and dependent), rise and fall uniformly with different per-capita levels of use (see Section 5).⁶⁷

The relationship between determinants and harm is not linear, and the causal direction is unclear.⁶⁸ Harms may result from long-term or acute use, and different groups are at risk of different patterns and types of harms.⁶⁹ Alcohol dependence may perpetuate high-risk alcohol use, or high-risk alcohol use may contribute to the development of alcohol dependence, (but they are not synonymous).⁷⁰

Most people who use alcohol at high-risk levels do not meet the criteria for alcohol dependence,⁷¹ and there is little evidence that people experiencing alcohol dependence can be characterised by specific levels of average daily alcohol use.⁷² (Hence the absence of levels of use in the AUD criteria in the DSM-5 and "*Is AA for You?*".) This anomaly has significant alcohol policy implications, as high levels of use have been used as a proxy for alcohol dependence in research, policy development and public health campaigns for decades.

Recommendation 6. Commission ongoing data collection, (eg. AIHW National Drug Strategy Household Survey), that incorporates broader measures than just levels of alcohol use or AUDIT-C data, eg. full AUDIT with psycho-social domains.

Recommendation 7. Expand the National alcohol guidelines beyond levels of use for adults, children and people who are pregnant or breastfeeding, by incorporating an evidence-based recommendation for people experiencing alcohol dependence and other mental ill-health.

5. Reductionist models underpin alcohol policies & marginalise dependence

Is it time to abandon contested models of alcohol use distribution that support deliberately deprioritising people with alcohol dependence who experience some of the greatest alcohol harms?

Over many decades there have been numerous attempts to quantitatively model alcohol use and alcohol harms, including alcohol dependence. This research aims to help develop better alcohol policies including alcohol taxation policies, to reduce the harm from alcohol.

Quantitative econometric modelling relies on the behaviour of markets, and on consumers presumed to have '*rational choice*'. Most of these attempts are inevitably reductionist models that use proxy values to over-simplify qualitative causes and consequences.

Three of the most influential econometric alcohol models are the Ledermann and Skog 'Collectivity' or 'Total Consumption' distribution model, Kreitman's 'Prevention Paradox' and the Becker and Murphy 'Rational Addiction Theory'. These were primarily developed in the 1980s and have come to achieve prominent and ongoing acceptance and influence yet have also been disputed by the multiple studies cited below.

Ledermann & Skog's 'collectivity' or 'total consumption' model

A theory from 1985 by Norwegian sociologist Ole-Jorgen Skog,⁷³ known as the '*Collectivity of drinking cultures*' (or '*Total Consumption Model'*) has underpinned alcohol-related public health policies ever since. Skog's model of collectivity followed the work of another researcher, Sully Ledermann,⁷⁴ who observed in the 1950s a baffling pattern of population-level liver cirrhosis that corelated with per capita alcohol use, even though many in a general population never used alcohol at such levels to develop cirrhosis.

Ledermann and Skog proposed that as per capita levels of alcohol use rose, all different types of drinking levels (moderate, heavy or dependent) also rose uniformly in concert, maintaining their distribution across the spectrum. This up-ended the previous policy focus on only people with dependence, and set the foundation for our now, almost exclusive, policy focus on population-levels of alcohol use and harms.

Up until the 1970s, researchers and policymakers had focused most of their efforts on people with high-risk use or alcohol dependence. Ledermann and Skog's work began a shift of focus to population-levels of alcohol use, presuming that by reducing the per-capita use, this would also reduce the level of use (and harm) for people with high-risk use or alcohol dependence. (This presumed a direction of causation between population-level alcohol use and alcohol dependence, which has not been determined by research evidence.)⁷⁵

Scholars have begun to question the effectiveness of this universal, population-level model.⁷⁶ A 2020 study by Raninen and Livingston, questions the decades-long acceptance and influence of the collectivity population-level model on multiple grounds, demonstrating that the model:

- is too vague to be useful,
- had inadequate data (especially empirical) to properly test it when proposed,
- shows a disconnect between level of use and level of harm, and
- experienced an uncritical persistence in following the model despite the above.⁷⁷

There may also be a problem with the proposed causal foundation of Skog's model, which was that social networks were the mechanism for developing a collectivity of 'drinking culture'. This seems to ignore the fact that people experiencing dependence often also experience significant social isolation as both a cause and consequence.⁷⁸ This would, at best, confound if not directly act against social networks having significant influence.

Raninen and Livingston's paper suggests researchers and policymakers are long overdue to reexamine and re-evaluate the Skog model of collectivity and to develop alternatives. This would seem to have some significant implications for alcohol harm reduction policy measures (eg. price, promotion, availability) as they target population-level initiatives almost exclusively.

Kreitman's 'prevention paradox'

Another theoretical model contributing to deprioritising alcohol dependence is the '*Prevention Paradox*' developed by Norman Kreitman in 1986. This suggests that, collectively the greatest alcohol harms are experienced by the majority of the population who experience less harms

each, rather than the people who use alcohol the most, (ie. the 'top 10%' of people in Australia who use 54% of the total alcohol used).⁷⁹

It may seem obvious that most of the population would collectively experience most of the harms. However, this is intended to suggest that the minority experiencing the greater harms (individually) do not experience such great harms, that they outweigh the burden collectively experienced by the majority. This gives rise to the unusual assertion that most harms are experienced by the *'bottom 90%'*! A potential benefit of using this model is analysing the distribution of population-based harms burden to prioritise response resources. This allocation would be based on achieving a greater societal gain through a small reduction in alcohol harms within a larger group of people with low-risk alcohol use and less serious harms.

However, it also leads to deliberately deprioritising the reduction of harms among the smaller, (yet still significant), number of people experiencing more serious harms, including alcohol dependence. Such an approach is reductionist and deliberately ignores the significant, *disproportionate* levels of harms among people experiencing alcohol dependence. It disrespects the individual experience of people suffering the most significant alcohol harms.

The scientific literature on the Prevention Paradox is also limited, the number of empirical studies is small, and the findings are not consistent. Studies of the prevention paradox are methodologically limited by failing to measure the frequency and severity of alcohol-related harms, potential under-reporting or non-participation by people with high-risk alcohol use, and the use of short reference periods for alcohol use while harms reflect lifetime experiences.⁸⁰

Another problem with it is that most episodes of harm experienced by the large number of people with lower use of alcohol overall, are from when they engage in occasional binge drinking, making their alcohol use patterns 'spikey'. This is problematic because it means the Prevention Paradox fails to clarify that the harm is primarily experienced by those among the low-risk drinkers with occasional episodes of high-risk use, (who are a significant subset of this group).⁸¹ If alcohol use is measured on either the day of highest use, or the day of highest alcohol-related harm then the Preventive Paradox disappears.⁸²

Significantly, in Australia, at a population level, despite reductions in alcohol use, we still see a rise in alcohol harms.⁸³ Most alcohol is used by a smaller proportion of people at high-risk levels, while people using alcohol at low-risk levels are reducing use, which does not impact as significantly on the risk of harms.⁸⁴ This suggests the Prevention Paradox is invalid, yet its application has diverted policy attention away from people at the highest risk of harms.

Becker & Murphy's 'rational addiction theory'

In the 1980s, Gary Becker developed an econometric model of alcohol dependence known as the '*rational addiction theory*'.⁸⁵ Becker's theory is a reductionist model,⁸⁶ which assumes that reducing alcohol use is just as 'addictive' as increasing the use of alcohol, based purely on price elasticity, with no consideration of the direction of the changed use, up or down, with the same drivers and the same magnitude.

The 'rational addiction theory' assumes 'rational' behaviour by people using alcohol at high-risk levels, including those experiencing psychological conditions like dependence. This model ignores the psycho-social symptoms of alcohol use disorder listed in the DSM5, such as continued alcohol use despite persistent physical, social, financial or psychological problems exacerbated by alcohol use.

The '*rational addiction theory*' has been further developed by Michael Grossman.⁸⁷ The model assumes '*forward-looking behaviour*' by people using alcohol at high-risk levels, including by people experiencing alcohol dependence, (with symptoms that include being unable to consider the consequences of their behaviour).

Many studies have critiqued the model:

- It does not satisfactorily explain the complex instability,⁸⁸
- there is much evidence that its assumptions are unrealistic,⁸⁹
- not useful as an explanation of real-world addictive behaviour and its ability to assess the effects of addictions, and⁹⁰
- the poorly constructed mathematical model is based on a lack of transparency about inaccurate assumptions selectively justified by ad-hoc stories.⁹¹

The consequence of the ongoing acceptance of the flawed '*Rational Addiction*' theory is that it continues to be used to substantiate current policies such as alcohol taxation.⁹²

Despite each of these attempts at reductionist models of alcohol use and harms, we still know little of the reasons why the distributions of risks for harmful outcomes look as they do. There is no accepted formal model of alcohol use to which alcohol harms can be reliably related.⁹³

Recommendation 8. Commission research to build alternate psycho-social models of alcohol use and harms beyond an exclusive focus on levels of use, to replace contested, reductionist models that have diverted policy attention away from people at the highest risk of harms.

6. Neoliberal conflicts of interest, policy interference & *'individual responsibility'*

Why should alcohol companies (that donate millions to major political parties) get to influence alcohol laws and regulate their own saturated marketing of their harmful products?

Commercial determinants & industry conflicts of interest

Alcohol is not just a toxic, addictive carcinogenic substance, it is also a highly profitable, \$1.5 trillion a year, commodity.⁹⁴ Commercial determinants of health are private sector activities that affect people's health. Alcohol industry activities operate as key commercial determinants of AOD health. Their actions contribute to high-risk alcohol use, resulting in a range of health and social harms to individuals, families and communities.⁹⁵

The production and marketing of alcoholic products are globally dominated by a small number of large firms. This oligopolistic market structure enables alcohol companies to achieve high profit margins, with profits supporting substantial marketing and political lobbying budgets whose reach is extensive. Global corporate entities in the alcohol industry promote and practice principles of the dominant political ideology of *neoliberalism* to sustain and extend their dominance. These principles include open competitive markets, reduced government regulation and taxation, unchecked growth, corporate power, commodification, narrative control and individual responsibilisation.⁹⁶

This powerful group of multinational alcohol corporations exerts significant political influence over governments, collectively opposing any policies that might limit their reach. Through well-funded industry lobby groups and think tanks, they push for ineffective measures that prioritise the continued increase in alcohol use by leveraging marketing, lobbying, pricing and increasing supply. These corporations represent the greatest barrier to reducing alcohol-related harms.⁹⁷

There are high levels of alcohol industry penetration into all governments. All jurisdictions report the presence of transnational alcohol corporations, and most report government officials or politicians having held alcohol industry roles. There are multiple examples of government partnerships or agreements with the alcohol industry, and government incentives for the industry. In contrast, government safeguards against alcohol industry influence are limited.⁹⁸

The recent report of the '*Rapid Review of Prevention Approaches to End Gender-Based Violence*'⁹⁹ notes that a failure to consider domestic, family and sexual violence in alcohol policy has allowed unprecedented growth in alcohol availability, both in the density of liquor outlets and online delivery hours of operation. The National Cabinet meeting in September 2024 addressed the role that harmful industries play in exacerbating violence.¹⁰⁰ Addressing commercial determinants of gendered violence includes preventing the policy influence of the alcohol industry and making them accountable for the harms their products cause.

Alcohol companies and their lobby groups seek to prevent effective regulation of alcohol marketing and availability. Political donations enable alcohol lobbyists to build long-term relationships with politicians and influence short-term decision making in their favour.¹⁰¹ Companies that profit from gambling and alcoholic products and their lobby groups paid more than \$2 million, (that we know of, excluding dark money donations),¹⁰² to major political parties in the last federal election year.¹⁰³ The latest disclosures in February 2024 bring alcohol-related payments to political parties to a total of \$16.3 million over the last decade.¹⁰⁴

Neoliberal stigmatised 'individual responsibility'

A key principle of neoliberalism, that the alcohol industry regularly employs, is *individual responsibilisation*. ¹⁰⁵ This is most commonly done by using the strategically ambiguous term '*drink responsibly*'.¹⁰⁶ This term allows for multiple interpretations, rarely referencing government drinking guidelines, and does not to lead to positive behaviour change.¹⁰⁷ Alcohol-related stigma is often associated with the belief that individuals are responsible for their own behaviour and alcohol use, and therefore do not deserve sympathy.¹⁰⁸

Focussing on individual responsibility contributes to the deregulation of markets, including the alcohol industry. The alcohol industry has long tried to shift the narrative by focussing on blaming and shaming individuals with high-risk levels of alcohol use, (despite them being their most profitable customers).¹⁰⁹ Neoliberal individual responsibilisation pretends to offer individual consumer choice. However, it places the blame of structural issues that have social and commercial determinants, (like AOD harms) on individuals who are excluded from power to influence the systemic determinants.

The primary focus of public health AOD harm reduction has shifted significantly, since the 1980s, away from targeted, individual approaches to universal, population-level approaches, (see Section 8. Universal + targeted). This shift has, in part, been intended to avoid industry *'individual responsibility'* stigmatisation.^{110,111}

However, this has also led to some marginalisation and de-prioritisation of people with high-risk AOD use and AOD dependence, within AOD policymaking. Some writers have misrepresented the industry *'individual responsibility'* framing as being associated with AOD treatment, and unhelpfully polarising AOD harm reduction as an *'all-or-nothing'* choice between individual treatment and population-based approaches.^{112,113} This overlooks the fact that the alcohol industry is using *'individual responsibility'* to avoid accountability and resist regulation, not to improve AUD treatment outcomes.

Another neoliberal principle relevant to alcohol use and harms, is a belief in the necessity of inequality. Neoliberal capitalism deliberately causes socio-economic inequality.¹¹⁴ There is evidence that alcohol harms are greater for poorer than for richer people, and considerably greater in poorer than in richer societies.¹¹⁵ This is even though they generally use less alcohol than the more affluent groups. This phenomenon is known as the *'alcohol harm paradox'*.¹¹⁶

Recommendation 9. Prohibit political donations and lobbying from harmful industries, including alcohol companies.

Recommendation 10. Establish comprehensive and effective conflict of interest policies to prevent policy interference by alcohol companies.

7. Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) – misunderstood & misrepresented

Why do voluntary, abstinence-based approaches trigger such antagonism from some AOD professionals and researchers?

AA in its own words

The oldest and most widely used alcohol dependence peer support program is Alcoholics Anonymous (AA). AA was founded in the United States in 1935 and has since grown to encompass over 125,000 groups worldwide, with approximately 2.1 million members in over 180 countries.¹¹⁷ AA is an informal, peer-based society of people in recovery from alcohol dependency. In Australia, there are about 20,000 members, who meet in AA groups at 2,000 AA meetings each week around Australia.¹¹⁸

"AA is a fellowship of people who share their experience, strength and hope with each other that they may solve their common problem and help others to recover from alcoholism. The only requirement for membership is a desire to stop drinking. There are no dues or fees for AA membership; we are self- supporting through our own contributions. AA is not allied with any sect, denomination, politics, organisation or institution; does not wish to engage in any controversy, neither endorses nor opposes any causes. Our primary purpose is to stay sober and help other alcoholics to achieve sobriety". (AA Preamble)

AA meetings range in size from a handful to a hundred or more in larger communities. An AA meeting may take one of several forms, but at any meeting people speak about what using alcohol did to their life, what actions they took to help themselves; and how they are living their lives now. The AA program, known as The Twelve Steps, provides a framework for self-examination and a pathway to recovery, free of alcohol.

Accessible, voluntary, democratic, non-professional, non-affiliated & self-identifying

Accessible, free, informal, voluntary & inclusive

- AA is free there are no fees for membership; it is self-supporting through voluntary member contributions, AA does not charge for its services.
- AA does not accept contributions from non-AA sources.
- AA is informal and voluntary.
- AA is inclusive you are an AA member if you say so.

Genuine democratic governance

- AA has no central authority controlling groups or members.
- AA offices do not issue directives.
- AA is non-hierarchical, with regularly rotating peer-based leadership
- AA has distributed and participative decision-making, with a right of appeal and substantial unanimity.

Non-professional & non-affiliated

- AA is non-professional. It has no clinics, doctors, counsellors or psychologists. All members are themselves in recovery from alcohol dependence.
- AA is not affiliated with any outside entity. AA does not endorse, finance, or lend the AA name to any facility or outside enterprise.

Self-identification

- AA does not diagnose anyone or tell anyone that they should stop using alcohol.
- AA says that only people themselves can decide whether to give AA a try.
- AA provides some questions which can help people decide for themselves.

AA research & success rates

Studying AA has sometimes been difficult due its principles of anonymity, confidentiality, nonaffiliation, and having no opinions on outside issues. Defining success can be also fraught. Some equate it with a lack of relapse, despite many (including AA) normalising relapse as a common experience in recovery from dependence. Another challenge is that AA is abstinencebased, which is often not the goal of other AOD programs. Each of these issues can create challenges for comparing 'success' with other programs and can result in incorrect claims that AA has low efficacy rates.¹¹⁹

Regardless, there have been increasingly rigorous examinations of the effectiveness of AA using high quality experimental designs. These studies examined the various mechanisms through which AA benefits individuals with alcohol dependence. These include a systematic review of random control trials of AA and 12-Step Facilitation (TSF) interventions, (which has the goal of getting people engaged in 12 step programs). AA / TSF were found to deliver better outcomes for continuous abstinence and remission and reduced healthcare costs. Implementing one of these proven manualized AA/TSF interventions is likely to enhance outcomes for individuals with alcohol dependence.¹²⁰

Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems, Department of Health (2021)¹²¹

"Over the past 50 years, hundreds of studies have examined the effectiveness of AA. In recent years, there have been several randomised and quasi-randomised controlled trials examining AA attendance and drinking outcomes. This has enabled researchers to undertake a systematic review on the effectiveness of AA as well as assertive referral interventions into AA. There is sufficient evidence to indicate:

- AA and TSF interventions are superior to other well-established treatments (eg. CBT) when the outcome is abstinence, and at least as effective as these other well-established treatments for other outcomes (eg. reduced drinking intensity and alcohol-related consequences)
- members who engage more fully with the AA program tend to benefit more than those who simply attend meetings; there is a clear association between the level of involvement in AA and better patient outcomes
- AA attendance is effective as part of an extended care plan, resulting in improved abstinence rates and greater treatment retention
- patients who attend AA alongside or following treatment show better long-term outcomes than those who attend either treatment or AA alone.

Participation in AA is an effective strategy for maintaining abstinence from alcohol (and improving other alcohol related outcomes), as a standalone or adjunctive approach to formal treatment."

Criticism: abstinence, religion, agency, disease model, stigma, coercion & currency

Whilst AA has received much praise over the decades, there has also been criticism. Some professionals have warned against AA as if it was dangerous, or competing with, rather than complimenting, other AOD treatment approaches. This can involve misrepresenting AA about abstinence, religion, agency, disease model, stigma, coercion and currency.^{122,123,124}

Abstinence

Abstinence seems to get a bad rap from some AOD researchers and AOD professionals. This can be despite the same professionals acknowledging there are some alcohol impacts that have no zero-risk level of alcohol use (eg. cancer, FASD). They also acknowledge that some people may need to abstain due to their 'relationship with alcohol', where controlled use is difficult if not impossible.

AA is abstinence-based, asserting there is no safe level of alcohol for people experiencing alcohol dependence, and *suggesting* that they voluntarily abstain. AA also views alcohol dependence as a lifelong illness. However, while AA is an abstinence-based program, the goal is never simply physical abstinence. The AA program suggests that abstinence is just the beginning, and people should be able to enjoy life sober, without constantly struggling with feeling the need to have to drink.

Tensions between abstinence-based and harm reduction approaches have continued for decades. However, each 'side' of the debate may not have needed to be so exclusive, as each approach seems to work for many. Voluntary abstinence is a form of harm reduction, and the AA text '*The Big Book*' encourages people to try controlled drinking to help them decide whether they self-identify as being alcohol dependent.¹²⁵

Religion

AA is not a religious organisation, nor is it affiliated with any religious body, or offer any religious services. It welcomes members of all religions, agnostics and atheists alike. However, AA does have religious origins and is self-described as a spiritual program of recovery. Despite the religious foundation of AA, a significant break with the previous Temperance Movements, was for AA to position alcohol dependence, as an illness, not a moral failing.

Also, despite the religious background of AA, the founders made a concerted effort to design it to be accessible for people of any belief or non-belief. This included using the language of *'choosing a god of your own understanding'*. Many AA members will suggest that AA is spiritual, not religious. However, that distinction is not always easy to demonstrate. AA does have undeniable religious elements, such as talking about god, a spiritual awakening, and prayer and meditation.

Some research evidence shows that while the AA program suggests that a spiritual awakening is an essential step to achieve recovery from dependence, this may only be true for a minority of participants with high level of dependence severity. (AA itself makes no such distinction.) The research suggests that AA's beneficial effects may be predominantly through social, cognitive, and emotional mechanisms.¹²⁶

Disease and agency

Best practice AOD treatment uses non-judgmental approaches, making a diagnosis only when beneficial for treatment. This is done to support people's agency and to avoid 'medicalising' or 'problematising' their experience of AOD use and harms. The 'disease' model of dependence is a common conception, but has been criticised for problematising or stigmatising dependence, potentially creating a barrier to help-seeking.

AA did not invent the concept of alcohol dependence being an illness, which was developed during the 19th century, but it did adopt it as part of its program. AA defined alcohol dependence as a progressive illness that cannot be cured but can be arrested and is the combination of a physical sensitivity to alcohol and a mental obsession with using alcohol. The DSM later also identified alcohol dependence as a psychiatric illness, which also originally used the term alcoholism, but later changed to 'alcohol use disorder' (AUD).¹²⁷

Some writers acknowledge that the disease model was a great improvement on the previous moralistic framing of dependence, which caused blame-related stigma. AA does use the 'labels' of '*alcoholism*' and '*alcoholic*' with the intention of helping people understand that what they experience is an illness, not a moral failing. This illness, although incurable, is treatable, and people can learn to live happy, sober lives without alcohol.

AA's Step 1 in the 12-step program, "*We admitted we were powerless over alcohol*", is said to be disempowering of people's agency. However, the powerlessness in Step 1, is only about using alcohol. It not about a person having no agency to take action to recover from dependence. It is how AA defines alcohol dependence, and how it helps people to decide for themselves whether AA can help them. People are invited to self-identify as having lost the power of choice over alcohol. (AA, after all, is considered a '*self-help*' program.)

Stigma

Alcohol dependence is a stigmatised condition, so that the alcohol problem, a diagnosis of this disorder, and the terms used to describe the disorder, (not just alcoholism and addiction), are all stigmatised entities. This means that avoiding stigmatised labels is challenging. In general, the language guides recommend a person-centred approach, using non-stigmatising, person-centred language.¹²⁸ While critics challenge labels as stigmatising, they overlook the fact that many people find empowerment and relief in identifying AUD as a condition, aligning with approaches like AA that emphasise recovery without blame.

AA retains the terms 'alcoholism' and 'alcoholics' which are now considered stigmatising. This was ironically originally intended by AA to de-stigmatise people experiencing alcohol dependence, by fostering solidarity among AA members, and reclaiming the words for common use. Importantly, noting that AA doesn't label people, it encourages people to consider whether they voluntarily self-identify with the 'label'.

Coercion

Some criticism of AA is based on a misconception that abstinence in AA is a mandatory requirement and that the AA program compels or coerces people into compliance. Yet AA has always been an entirely voluntary program. The language of the 12 steps is deliberately framed in the past tense saying, *"Here are the steps we took, which are suggested as a program of recovery"*, inviting, not coercing, people to follow the program.

- No AA member can compel another to do anything; nobody can be punished or expelled
- AA does not solicit members
- AA does not keep attendance records or case histories
- AA does not follow up or try to control its members.
- You're a member of a group if you choose to be. You can come and go as you please.

Some AOD treatment facilities may impose mandatory abstinence, but AA doesn't.

Currency

AA is almost 90 years old, having been established in 1935 by co-founders Bill Wilson (a stockbroker) and Dr Bob Smith (a surgeon), who both had lived experience of alcohol

dependence. The AA program was developed by borrowing concepts, and getting input from, the fields of medicine, psychiatry and religion.

The two issues regarding currency are language used in the AA literature, and the recovery concepts being scientifically up to date. The AA 12-step model of recovery is largely unchanged since its inception. The AA text "The Big Book of Alcohols Anonymous" is also largely unchanged through four editions from 1939 until 2001, except for the updating of different stories in the Appendix.

Some of the language in this older AA literature is dated, gendered and sexist, whilst newer publications are more broadly inclusive and representative of the diversity in AA now. A significant recent development in 2024 is that AA has published a "*Plain Language Big Book*", updating much of the gendered and sexist language, for example, replacing the Chapter "*For Wives*" with "*For Partners*".

In regard to AA keeping up to date with the latest scientific developments, AA has stated that it would listen to and reflect the latest developments in any relevant scientific field, and always to co-operate with anyone working in the AOD field.

Occasionally AA is wrongly criticised for being out of date with scientific developments about genetic causes of dependences, when AA expresses no view about causes of dependence. Other times AA is criticised for its disease model (see above), when the DSM-5 criteria also presume a disease concept. AA has also been vindicated by research evidence in having no view about levels of alcohol use defining dependence,¹²⁹ (which neither does the DSM-5).

Recommendation 11. Publish accurate information about AA, its principles and practices, (including research evidence of its success), to facilitate best practice research, policymaking, program design and co-ordination, (including referral pathways) for alcohol dependence.

8. Targeted & universal responses - resourced, coordinated & prioritised

Why don't Australian governments properly fund AOD and mental health treatment services, despite a demonstrated return on investment? How can we better co-ordinate targeted policies and programs alongside population-level alcohol policies and programs?

Australia's response to AOD use and harms lacks resourcing, co-ordination and a balanced prioritisation.

Resourcing treatment & prevention

There is significant disproportionate amount of funding spent by Governments on the 'supply reduction' strategy of AOD criminalisation, compared with the under-resourced prevention treatment and harm reduction. While an estimated \$5.45 billion was spent in 2021/22 on AOD-related responses, two-thirds of this went to law enforcement, (\$3.50 billion, 64%). This left just \$2 billion for prevention (\$364 million, 7%), treatment (\$1.49 billion, 27%), and harm reduction (\$90 million, 2%).

This inequity impedes the effectiveness of AOD policy, and there is an urgent need to increase funding for health-based interventions. The \$5.45 billion is 0.63% of government expenditure, which is a decrease from 0.8% in 2009/10, and is a real reduction in proactive spending on AOD harm reduction by Australian governments.¹³⁰

This under-resourcing means there is extensive unmet AOD treatment demand in Australia. In NSW, for example, comparing the number of people receiving treatment against the estimates of the number of people in need of treatment, leaves 101,773 people in need and seeking AOD treatment missing out in 2022, (including 50,000 people experiencing alcohol dependence). This 101,773 people comprise the following for each drug type:^{131,132}

NSW	Diagnosed Need	Demand (Seeking)	Received Treatment	Treatment Gap	% Treated	% Untreated
Alcohol	169,483	67,793	17,831	49,962	26%	74%
Cannabis	49,467	19,787	7,744	12,043	39%	61%
Methamphetamine	41,798	31,348	9,498	21,850	30%	70%
Opioids	50,315	45,284	27,367	17,917	60%	40%
Total	311,063	164,212	62,439	101,773	38%	62 %

The evidence is also clear about the cost effectiveness of AOD harm reduction. For every \$1 invested in AOD treatment, \$5.40 is returned in benefit to the community. For every \$1 invested in harm reduction programs, such as Needle and Syringe Programs, \$27 is returned in community benefit.¹³³

Co-ordinating AOD & mental health services

Navigating the fragmented AOD service system is challenging. It has complex funding structures and lacks adequate co-ordination with the mental health sector. This creates barriers for help-seeking, as there is significant co-morbidity (dual diagnosis) AOD harms including dependence and mental ill-health. We need to make finding the right type of treatment and support much easier. There is a need to better understand effective treatment interventions targeting co-morbidity in alcohol use and mental illness, including education, psycho-social, peer-based, community-based, and pharmacological approaches. We need to research and evaluate any potential integration of the two service systems without just merging them, obliterating necessary differences.

Balanced prioritisation: targeted & universal approaches

Two of the most influential, yet contested, alcohol policy models, the Total Consumption model and the Prevention Paradox, (see Section 5. Reductionist models), suggest policies and programs should prioritise population-based approaches. This is at the expense of targeting people using alcohol at high-risk levels, including people experiencing alcohol dependence.

This suggested approach is despite most of the alcohol being used by a smaller proportion of people using alcohol at high-risk levels, while people who use alcohol at low-risk levels are already reducing their use, which does not impact significantly on the population-level risk of harms. Focussing exclusively on population interventions and outcomes, means neglecting the individuals with lived experience of high-level alcohol harms.¹³⁴ Further, the population-based approaches are not as effective at reducing harms for people using alcohol at high-risk levels:

"Public health messaging is more effective for people who use alcohol at low-risk levels who consequently use even less, but with minimal change in harms. Conversely, people using alcohol at high-risk levels appear less responsive and high rates of alcohol harm continue."¹³⁵

Alcohol policy should be a mix of measures aimed at population groups and at individuals.¹³⁶ It is critical to not shift funding away from AOD treatment, when the evidence shows there is significant unmet demand for AOD treatment, (see Resourcing above). Both prevention and individual treatment are needed. Addressing social and commercial determinants can help prevent, but not treat, alcohol dependence.

There is even the suggestion that policy measures targeted at people experiencing high-risk alcohol use and harms are more politically acceptable, and therefore more feasible, than population-based measures.¹³⁷ However, this political pragmatism risks stigmatising AOD harms, which is sometimes used for political advantage in seeking to criminalise AOD use and harms. Any such prioritisation of targeted, individual approaches must necessarily be without stigmatising or blaming people.

Could a continuum model better address harms than categorical?

An alternate approach which might balance the extremes of population-only or targeted-only is a 'continuum' model. This is intended to represent the complex, heterogeneous nature of alcohol use and harms, which presents challenges to understanding, treating or preventing alcohol harms including dependence. Proponents of a continuum model suggest that attempts to represent the complex phenomenon of alcohol dependence, (including the use of AUD criteria), have limitations. These include representing the broad spectrum of alcohol use and harms and the many pathways to prevention, treatment, and recovery.¹³⁸

A continuum model departs from the dominant categorical model, which applies a threshold to determine 'use disorder', 'harmful use' or 'dependence' according to the severity of alcohol harms experienced by an individual, and the number of symptom criteria met. However, a continuum-based models raises key challenges for the conceptualisation of alcohol use harms, not least how such a model can be applied within treatment and clinical practice to challenge existing decision-making thresholds and paradigms.¹³⁹ Ignoring the way people in face-to-face situations make their decisions risks a situation where researchers and practitioners work in different ways, lessening communication between them. Researchers working in this space must be mindful of the practical limitations that those on the front-lines face.¹⁴⁰

Every swing of the pendulum, back and forth, between universal and targeted approaches, over the past 100 plus years, brought new insights, learning, progress and some improved outcomes for people experiencing harms from alcohol. However, with each polarisation to an extreme, (or the alternate suggestion that there are no useful distinctions), we also lose something in our understanding and response to alcohol harms. With harms continuing to increase, we must continue to respond to the AOD harms experienced by individual people, plus put in place the structural, population-based measures seeking to prevent these harms happening in the first place. We have always needed to do both.

Recommendation 12. Ensure adequate funding (secure and indexed), co-ordination and governance for AOD and mental health sectors. Ensure people have equitable access to culturally responsive, trauma-informed and non-stigmatising treatment and support.

Recommendation 13. Implement alcohol policies and programs with a mix of both universal, population-based and targeted, individual approaches.

Conclusion

This submission has discussed some of the questions, paradoxes and challenges of AOD use and harms, especially alcohol use and harms, including alcohol dependence.

It has adopted a lived experience perspective, exploring the culture and psychology of alcohol, the frameworks and models used to understand alcohol use and harms, and examined some responses like AA, and universal and targeted approaches.

It has identified significant barriers, limitations, misrepresentations, contradictions, conflicts of interest and gaps in understanding alcohol use and harms. It has also suggested changes to lived experience engagement, to the understanding and representation of alcohol use and

harms, and to the policy and program responses. These changes include valuing, accepting, understanding, prioritising and supporting people experiencing AOD use and harms.

This submission makes specific recommendations that Australian Governments can implement to prevent AOD harms from being normalised, glorified, glamorised, stigmatised, marginalised and criminalised. This can allow Australians to experience better health, safety and wellbeing.

References

¹ Rethink Addiction (2020) What Is Addiction? https://www.rethinkaddiction.org.au/whatisaddiction ² NDRI (2020) National Alcohol Indicators Project (NAIP) <u>https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/publications-resources/project-</u> reports-and-bulletins/national-alcohol-indicators-bulletins ³ Whetton S, Tait RJ, Gilmore W, et al. (2021) Examining the Social and Economic Costs of Alcohol Use in Australia: 2017/18, NDRI, Curtin University https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/ndri/media/documents/publications/T302.pdf ⁴ AIHW (2024) Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcohol-</u> tobacco-other-drugs-australia/contents/impacts/health-impacts ⁵ IAP2 (2024) IAP2 Public Participation Spectrum <u>https://iap2.org.au/resources/spectrum/</u> ⁶ QNADA (2022) Inquiry into the opportunities to improve mental health outcomes for Queenslanders https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/com/MHSC-1B43/IQ-5DEF/submissions/00000048.pdf ⁷ WACOSS (2023) Lived Experience Framework - principles and practices for Lived Experience partnerships https://www.wacoss.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/WACOSS-Lived-Experience-Framework-Principles-and-Practices-for-Lived-Experience-partnerships-December-2023.pdf ⁸ Qld Health (2023) Queensland Health Lived Experience (Peer) Workforce Framework 2023 https://www.health.qld.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0039/929667/peer-workforce-support-framework.pdf ⁹ Qld Mental Health Commission (2019) Queensland Framework for the Development of the Mental Health Lived Experience Workforce https://www.qmhc.qld.gov.au/sites/default/files/qmhc_lived_experience_workforce_framework_web.pdf ¹⁰ WA Mental Health Commission (2024) The Western Australian Lived Experience (Peer) Workforces Framework - For the mental health, alcohol and other drug, suicide prevention sectors https://www.mhc.wa.gov.au/media/4911/mhclived experience workforces-framework-mar2024-digital.pdf ¹¹ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition). Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney. https://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/bitstream/handle/2123/28146/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ¹² NDRI (2020) National Alcohol Indicators Project (NAIP) <u>https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/publications-resources/project-</u> reports-and-bulletins/national-alcohol-indicators-bulletins ¹³ AIHW (2024) Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcoholtobacco-other-drugs-australia/contents/impacts/health-impacts ¹⁴ AIHW (2024) Alcohol and other drug treatment services in Australia annual report https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol-other-drug-treatment-services/alcohol-other-drug-treatment-servicesaustralia/contents/drugs-of-concern ¹⁵ Commonwealth of Australia (2021) National Preventive Health Strategy 2021–2030 https://www.health.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/2021/12/national-preventive-health-strategy-2021-2030 1.pdf ¹⁶ Whetton S, Tait RJ, Gilmore W, et al. (2021) *Examining the Social and Economic Costs of Alcohol Use in Australia:* 2017/18, NDRI, Curtin University https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/ndri/media/documents/publications/T302.pdf ¹⁷ AIHW (2024) Australian Burden of Disease Study 2024 https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-ofdisease/australian-burden-of-disease-study-2024/contents/key-findings ¹⁸ Cancer Council Victoria (2024) Ways alcohol causes cancer - Alcohol causes at least 7 types of cancer $\label{eq:https://www.cancervic.org.au/cancer-information/preventing-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol/how-alcohol-causes-cancer/limit-alcohol-causes-cause$ ¹⁹ Bower C & Elliott EJ (2016) Australian Guide to the diagnosis of FASD. Updated 2020. https://www.fasdhub.org.au/siteassets/pdfs/australian-guide-to-diagnosis-of-fasd_all-appendices.pdf ²⁰ Room R (1988) The dialectic of drinking in Australian life: from the Rum Corps to the wine column. Australian Drug and Alcohol Review, 7(4), 413-437. https://www.robinroom.net/DialecticX.pdf

²¹ Baker N & Allely S (2022) The history of Australia's drinking culture from rum as a currency to non-alcoholic wine https://www.abc.net.au/news/2022-08-15/do-australians-have-problem-with-alcohol-edmund-barton-bobhawke/101288620

²² Tony Jaques (2021) *The bell is sounding for the 'pub test', but will our politicians hear it?* <u>https://www.crikey.com.au/2021/05/20/pub-test-politicians/</u>

²³ Baker N & Whitfeld A (2022) The long connection between pubs and politics in Australia https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-02-22/pubs-and-politics-in-australia/103471442 ²⁴ AHRC (2021) Set the Standard: Report on the Independent Review into Commonwealth Parliamentary Workplaces https://humanrights.gov.au/sites/default/files/document/publication/ahrc set the standard 2021.pdf ²⁵ Prime Minister (2024) Meeting of National Cabinet Media statement Friday 6 September 2024 https://www.pm.gov.au/media/meeting-national-cabinet-7 ²⁶ FARE (2024) Community and health leaders welcome draft alcohol laws in South Australia to prevent gendered violence https://fare.org.au/community-and-health-leaders-welcome-draft-alcohol-laws-in-south-australia-toprevent-gendered-violence/ ²⁷ Rapid Review Expert Panel (2024) Unlocking the Prevention Potential: Accelerating action to end domestic, family and sexual violence. Report of the Rapid Review of Prevention Approaches https://www.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource/download/unlocking-the-prevention-potential-4.pdf ²⁸ Chen CY, Leung HL, Luo HX, & Alghashi S (2023) Media Stigmatising of Alcohol and Drug Use. South Australian Network of Drug and Alcohol Services. https://sandas.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Final-Media-Stigmatising-of-Alcohol-and-Drug-Use-3.pdf ²⁹ Mercille J (2017) Media Coverage of Alcohol Issues: A Critical Political Economy Framework—A Case Study from Ireland https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC5486336/ ³⁰ Mindframe (2019) Guidelines for communicating about alcohol and other drugs https://mindframemedia.imgix.net/assets/src/uploads/Mindframe_AOD_Guidelines.pdf ³¹ NADA (2015) Language matters https://nada.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/language matters - online final.pdf ³² Cox C (2022) The Canadian Cannabis Act legalizes and regulates recreational cannabis use in 2018 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S016885101830023X ³³ Hinchliffe J (2024) High spirits: Brisbane city council votes to allow climbers to drink alcohol atop the Story Bridge. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2024/dec/09/brisbane-story-bridge-climb-alcoholpermit-queensland ³⁴ Ritter A, Grealy M, Kelaita P & Kowalski M (2024) The Australian 'drug budget': Government drug policy expenditure 2021/22. DPMP Monograph No. 36. Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW. https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/41157/1/Australian_drug_budget_2021-22_May_2024.pdf ³⁵ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – How to Smash Big Alcohol and Reclaim Working-Class Joy. (p. 1) **Repeater Books** ³⁶ Bower C, Watkins RE, Mutch RC, et al (2018) Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and youth justice: a prevalence study among young people sentenced to detention in Western Australia. https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/bmjopen/8/2/e019605.full.pdf ³⁷ Holmes R (2020) Submission to Senate Community Affairs Legislation Committee on the Social Security (Continuation of Cashless Welfare) Bill 2020 #115 https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Community Affairs/CashlessWelfareContinu a/Submissions ³⁸ FARE (2021) Electronic Monitoring (including for Alcohol-Related Offences): An evidence brief https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/FARE-Evidence-Brief-Electronic-Monitoring-Attachment-2.pdf ³⁹ EY (2020) Medium Term (24 months) Outcomes Evaluation of the Banned Drinker Register https://digitallibrary.health.nt.gov.au/nthealthserver/api/core/bitstreams/a079e16d-3ae0-4eb1-be15-17c8ffcff90e/content ⁴⁰ Barrett A (2024) Queensland set to follow Northern Territory in implementing harmful youth justice policies, and experts are alarmed. Croakey Media. https://www.croakey.org/queensland-set-to-follow-northern-territory-inimplementing-harmful-youth-justice-policies-and-experts-are-alarmed/ ⁴¹ Rethink Addiction (2020) What Is Addiction? https://www.rethinkaddiction.org.au/whatisaddiction ⁴² AIHW (2024) National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2022–2023 – Data tables: National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2022–2023 – 4. Alcohol consumption. Table 4.64-4.67. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/illicit-use-ofdrugs/national-drug-strategy-household-survey/data ⁴³ American Psychiatric Association (2013) *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5.* ⁴⁴ Rethink Addiction (2020) What Is Addiction? <u>https://www.rethinkaddiction.org.au/whatisaddiction</u> ⁴⁵ Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, et al (2010) Alcohol: no ordinary commodity: research and public policy. Oxford University Press. p. 18-20 ⁴⁶ AIHW (2024) Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia, Health impacts - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare https://pp.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcohol-tobacco-other-drugs-australia/contents/impacts/healthimpacts ⁴⁷ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) *Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition)*. Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney.

https://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/bitstream/handle/2123/28146/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf

⁴⁸ Rossow I (2006) Issues for Further Reflections: Comments on Skog (2006). Society for the Study of Addiction, 101,

159-165 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x ⁴⁹ Williamson L (2009) Alcohol dependence in public policy: towards its (re)inclusion. Clin Ethics. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3188374/ ⁵⁰ FARE (2024) New AIHW data shows that alcohol continues to harm millions of Australians https://fare.org.au/newaihw-data-shows-that-alcohol-continues-to-harm-millions-of-australians/ ⁵¹ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition). Sydney: Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney. https://alcoholtreatmentguidelines.com.au/pdf/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ⁵² NHMRC (2020) Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/health-advice/alcohol ⁵³ Australian Department of Health (2017) Assessing alcohol consumption in pregnancy using AUDIT-C https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/assessing-alcohol-consumption-in-pregnancy-using-audit-c ⁵⁴ WHO (2001) AUDIT: the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: guidelines for use in primary health care https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/audit-the-alcohol-use-disorders-identification-test-guidelines-for-use-inprimary-health-care ⁵⁵ UK Government (2021) How to use the ASSIST-Lite screening tool to identify alcohol and drug use and tobacco smoking https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assist-lite-screening-tool-how-to-use/how-to-use-theassist-lite-screening-tool-to-identify-alcohol-and-drug-use-and-tobacco-smoking ⁵⁶ WHO (2010) The Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST) - Manual for use in primary care https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978924159938-2 ⁵⁷ American Psychiatric Association (1994) *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Fourth Edition:* DSM-IV. p. 194-196 ⁵⁸ American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Fifth Edition: DSM-5. p. 490-498. ⁵⁹ Alcoholics Anonymous (1973) *Is A.A. For You? Twelve questions only you can answer* https://www.aa.org/pages/en_us/is-aa-for-you-twelve-questions-only-you-can-answer ⁶⁰ NHMRC (2019) Draft Australian Guidelines to Reduce Health Risks from Drinking Alcohol https://online.nhmrc.gov.au/sites/default/files/alcohol/draft australian guidelines to reduce health risks from d rinking alcohol.pdf ⁶¹ NHMRC (2020) Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/health-advice/alcohol ⁶² Australian Department of Health (2017) Assessing alcohol consumption in pregnancy using AUDIT-C https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/assessing-alcohol-consumption-in-pregnancy-using-audit-c ⁶³ Dawson DA, Smith SM, Saha TD, et al (2012) Comparative performance of the AUDIT-C in screening for DSM-IV and DSM-5 alcohol use disorders https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3469743/ ⁶⁴ Dutey-Magni PF, Brown J, Holmes J, J Sinclair JMA (2021) Concurrent validity of an Estimator of Weekly Alcohol Consumption (EWAC) based on the Extended AUDIT https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34374144/ ⁶⁵ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition). Sydney: Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney. https://alcoholtreatmentguidelines.com.au/pdf/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ⁶⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020) Dietary Guidelines for Alcohol https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/moderate-drinking.htm ⁶⁷ Raninen J, Livingston M (2020) The theory of collectivity of drinking cultures: how alcohol became everyone's problem. Addiction, 115, 1773–1776 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/add.15057 ⁶⁸ Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, et al (2010) Alcohol: no ordinary commodity: research and public policy. Oxford University Press. p. 18-20

⁶⁹ Roche A, Kostadinov V, Fischer J & Nicholas R (2015) The social determinants of inequities in alcohol consumption and alcohol-related health outcomes, VicHealth, 2015 p.55 <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/-</u> /media/ResourceCentre/PublicationsandResources/Health-Inequalities/Fair-Foundations/Fullreviews/HealthEquity-Alcohol-review.pdf

⁷⁰ Gruenewald PJ & Treno A (2006) Understanding the Prevention Paradox: Drinkers and Drinking: A Comment on Skog (2006). Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x</u>

⁷¹ Esser MB, Hedden SL, Kanny D, et al, (2014) *Prevalence of alcohol dependence among US adult drinkers, 2009-*2011 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25412029/</u>

⁷² Jiang H, Lange S, Tran A et al. (2021) Determining the sex-specific distributions of average daily alcohol consumption using cluster analysis: is there a separate distribution for people with alcohol dependence?. Popul Health Metrics 19, 28 (2021). https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12963-021-00261-4

⁷³ Skog OJ (1985) *The collectivity of drinking cultures: a theory of the distribution of alcohol consumption*, Addiction. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1360-0443.1985.tb05294.x

⁷⁴ Ledermann S (1956) Alcool, alcoolisme, alcoolisation. Paris: Presses universitaires de France.

⁷⁵ Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, et al (2010) *Alcohol: no ordinary commodity: research and public policy.* 2nd Ed. Oxford University Press. (p. 18-20)

⁷⁶ Room R, Livingston M (2017) *The Distribution of Customary Behavior in a Population: The Total Consumption Model and Alcohol Policy* <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0731121416683278</u>

⁷⁷ Raninen J, Livingston M (2020) The theory of collectivity of drinking cultures: how alcohol became everyone's problem. Addiction, 115, 1773–1776 <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/add.15057</u>

⁷⁸ FARE (2021) Submission to Inquiry into social isolation and loneliness in Queensland <u>https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/FARE-submission-to-Qld-Inquiry-into-social-isolation-loneliness.pdf</u>

⁷⁹ Cook M, Mojica-Perez Y & Callinan S (2022) *Distribution of alcohol use in Australia*. CAPR. <u>https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/CAPR-report-Distribution-of-alcohol-use-in-Australia.pdf</u>

⁸⁰ Rossow I (2006) *Issues for Further Reflections: Comments on Skog (2006)*. Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x

⁸¹ Stockwell T (2006) *Comments On Skog (2006): The Prevention Paradox Always Looked To Me Like A Sleight Of Hand.* Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x</u>

⁸² Stockwell T, Hawks D, Lang E, Rydon P (1996) *Unravelling the preventive paradox for acute alcohol problems*. Drug and Alcohol Review March 1996 <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Unravelling-the-preventive-paradox-for-acute-Stockwell-Hawks/46439155096eba578cb647df913802915df9ad62</u>

⁸³ Connolly F (2023) *Drinking down, deaths up: Inside Australia's alcohol paradox* <u>https://independentaustralia.net/life/life-display/drinking-down-deaths-up-inside-australias-alcohol-paradox,18149</u>

⁸⁴ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) *Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition)*. Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney. p. 26.

https://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/bitstream/handle/2123/28146/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ⁸⁵ Becker GS & Murphy KM (1988) A Theory of Rational Addiction, Journal of Political Economy

https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/261558

⁸⁶ Reubi D (2016) *Of neoliberalism and global health: human capital, market failure and sin/social taxes* <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5039399/</u>

⁸⁷ Grossman, M (1993) The economic analysis of addictive behavior. in: Hilton ME, Bloss G, eds. (1993) Economics and the prevention of alcohol-related problems. p. 91–123. <u>https://www.infocenters.co.il/ada/multimedia/full-pdf/niaaaresmono25.pdf#page=106</u>

⁸⁸ Clarke H & Danilkina S (2006) *Talking Rationally About Rational Addiction*, La Trobe University

http://www.econ.mq.edu.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0003/221970/SvetlanaEcnModels.pdf

⁸⁹ Dauner L (2018) Consumer Behaviour. Does Rational Addiction Exist? Seminar Paper

https://www.grin.com/document/416898

⁹⁰ Rogeberg O (2020) The theory of Rational Addiction, Addiction,

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/add.14822

⁹¹ Rogeberg O (2004) *Taking Absurd Theories Seriously: Economics and the Case of Rational Addiction Theories*, https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/philosophy-of-science/article/abs/taking-absurd-theories-seriouslyeconomics-and-the-case-of-rational-addiction-theories/464948A7E97DE5ABDC939C5E25503586

⁹² Saffer H, Gehrsitz M & Grossman M (2022) The Effects Of Alcohol Excise Tax Increases By Drinking Level And By Income Level <u>https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_papers/w30097/w30097.pdf</u>

⁹³ Gruenewald PJ & Treno A (2006) Understanding the Prevention Paradox: Drinkers and Drinking: A Comment on Skog (2006). Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x</u>

⁹⁴ Jernigan D, Ross CS. (2020) *The Alcohol Marketing Landscape: Alcohol Industry Size, Structure, Strategies, and Public Health Responses.* J Stud Alcohol Drugs Suppl. 2020 Mar;(19):13-25.

https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC7064002/

⁹⁵ Adams J, Asiasiga L, Neville S. (2023) *The alcohol industry—A commercial determinant of poor health for Rainbow communities*. Health Promot J Austral. 2023; 34(4): 903–909. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.665</u>

⁹⁶ Holmes R (2016) 'The puzzling persistence of failed neoliberalism – with a focus on housing research' https://www.academia.edu/30417007/The puzzling persistence of failed neoliberalism with a focus on housin g_research

 ⁹⁷ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – how to smash Big Alcohol and reclaim working-class joy (p. 61)
⁹⁸ Leung JYY, Casswell S, Randerson S, et al. (2024) Assessing alcohol industry penetration and government safeguards: the International Alcohol Control Study. BMJ Glob Health 2024;9:e016093. https://gh.bmj.com/content/bmjgh/9/11/e016093.full.pdf

⁹⁹ Rapid Review Expert Panel (2024) Unlocking the Prevention Potential: Accelerating action to end domestic, family and sexual violence. Report of the Rapid Review of Prevention Approaches https://www.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource/download/unlocking-the-prevention-potential-4.pdf

¹⁰⁰ Prime Minister (2024) *Meeting of National Cabinet - Media statement*. Friday 6 September 2024 <u>Meeting of National Cabinet | Prime Minister of Australia (pm.gov.au)</u>

¹⁰¹ Kypri K, McCambridge J, Robertson N, et al (2019) 'If someone donates \$1000, they support you. If they donate \$100 000, they have bought you'. Mixed methods study of tobacco, alcohol and gambling industry donations to Australian political parties. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2019 Mar;38(3):226-233. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30474155/
¹⁰² Evershed N & Canales SB (2024) 'Dark money': \$57m of donations to major Australian parties in 2022-23 of unknown origin. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2024/feb/02/dark-money-57m-of-donations-to-major-australian-parties-in-2022-23-of-unknown-origin

¹⁰³ FARE (2023) Gambling and alcohol lobby plough \$2.165 million into political parties, up 40% from previous year https://fare.org.au/gambling-and-alcohol-lobby-plough-2-165-million-into-political-parties-up-40-from-previousyear/

¹⁰⁴ FARE (2024) Alcohol lobby ploughs \$1.3m into political parties <u>https://fare.org.au/alcohol-lobby-ploughs-1-3m-into-political-parties/</u>

¹⁰⁵ Hall S, Massey D & Rustin M (2015) *After neoliberalism?: The kilburn manifesto*. Lawrence & Wishart. <u>https://lwbooks.co.uk/product/after-neoliberalism-the-kilburn-manifesto-free-e-book</u>

¹⁰⁶ Hessari NM, & Petticrew M (2018) *What does the alcohol industry mean by 'Responsible drinking'? A comparative analysis, Journal of Public Health*, Volume 40, Issue 1, March 2018, pp. 90–97, https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article-abstract/40/1/90/3111234

¹⁰⁷ Davies E, Lewin J, & Field M (2022) *Am I a responsible drinker? The impact of message frame and drinker prototypes on perceptions of alcohol product information labels*. Psychology & Health, 39(8), 1005–1022. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/08870446.2022.2129055

¹⁰⁸ Erofeeva P (2016) The stigmatization of alcohol and drug dependence: Its scope and consequences. Zhurnal Issledovanii Sotsial'noi Politiki, 14(3), 377-392. <u>https://jsps.hse.ru/index.php/jsps/article/view/3262</u>

¹⁰⁹ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – how to smash Big Alcohol and reclaim working-class joy (p. 61)

¹¹⁰ Giorgi C (2023) The 'individual responsibility' myth. FARE. <u>https://fare.org.au/the-individual-responsibility-myth/</u>

¹¹¹ Fresh-Balance (2019) *The Problem with 'Drinking Responsibly'* <u>https://www.fresh-balance.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Drinking-Responsibly.pdf</u>

¹¹² Morris J, Boness CL & Burton R (2023) (*Mis*)understanding alcohol use disorder: Making the case for a public health first approach. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 253, p. 111019. <u>https://openresearch.lsbu.ac.uk/item/9579x</u>

 ¹¹³ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – how to smash Big Alcohol and reclaim working-class joy (p. 51)
¹¹⁴ Macnaughton G & Ahmed AK (2023) Economic Inequality and the Right to Health: On Neoliberalism, Corporatization, and Coloniality, HHR Vol 25/2, 2023, pp. 105-110

https://www.hhrjournal.org/2023/12/05/economic-inequality-and-the-right-to-health-on-neoliberalismcorporatization-and-coloniality/

¹¹⁵ Room R, Cook M & Laslett A-M (2022) *Substance use and the Sustainable Development Goals: will development bring greater problems?* Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/365782278 Substance use and the Sustainable Development Goals will development bring greater problems

¹¹⁶ Boyd J, Bambra C, Purshouse RC, Holmes J (2021) *Beyond Behaviour: How Health Inequality Theory Can Enhance Our Understanding of the 'Alcohol-Harm Paradox'*. <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8199939/pdf/ijerph-18-06025.pdf</u>

¹¹⁷ Haber P & Riordan B (2020) *Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems: A Review of the Evidence*. Australian Department of Health <u>https://alcoholtreatmentguidelines.com.au/pdf/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems-evidence-review.pdf</u>

¹¹⁸ Alcoholics Anonymous Australia <u>https://aa.org.au/</u>

 ¹¹⁹ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – how to smash Big Alcohol and reclaim working-class joy (p. 39)
¹²⁰ Kelly JF, Abry A, Ferri M, & Humphreys K (2020) Alcoholics Anonymous and 12-Step Facilitation Treatments for Alcohol Use Disorder: A Distillation of a 2020 Cochrane Review for Clinicians and Policy Makers. 2020 Oct 20;55(6):641-651. https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8060988/

¹²¹ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) *Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition)*. Sydney: Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney.

https://alcoholtreatmentguidelines.com.au/pdf/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ¹²² Lee N (2022) Does Alcoholics Anonymous actually work? <u>https://theconversation.com/does-alcoholics-anonymous-actually-work-179665</u>

¹²³ Morris J, Boness CL & Burton R (2023) (*Mis*)understanding alcohol use disorder: Making the case for a public health first approach. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 253, p. 111019. <u>https://openresearch.lsbu.ac.uk/item/9579x</u>

¹²⁴ Wilt J (2022) Drinking Up the Revolution – how to smash Big Alcohol and reclaim working-class joy (p. 40-41)

¹²⁵ AA (2001) Alcoholics Anonymous, the "Big Book" 4th Ed. p.31 <u>https://www.aa.org/the-big-book</u>

¹²⁶ Kelly JF (2017) *Is Alcoholics Anonymous religious, spiritual, neither? Findings from 25 years of mechanisms of behavior change research.* Addiction. 2017 Jun;112(6):929-936. <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC5385165/</u>

¹²⁷ Frenz DA (2013) Addiction Through the Decades: From DSM-I to DSM-5

https://www.thecarlatreport.com/articles/1997-addiction-through-the-decades-from-dsm-i-to-dsm-5

¹²⁸ NADA (2015) Language matters <u>https://nada.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/language matters - online - final.pdf</u>

¹²⁹ Jiang H, Lange S, Tran A et al. (2021) *Determining the sex-specific distributions of average daily alcohol consumption using cluster analysis: is there a separate distribution for people with alcohol dependence?*. Popul Health Metrics 19, 28 (2021). <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12963-021-00261-4</u>

¹³⁰ Ritter A, Grealy M, Kelaita P & Kowalski M (2024) *The Australian 'drug budget': Government drug policy expenditure 2021/22*. DPMP Monograph No. 36. Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW.

https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/41157/1/Australian drug budget 2021-22 May 2024.pdf

¹³¹ Ritter A (2024) *Evidence brief: The NSW non-government alcohol and other drug sector.* Drug Policy Modelling Program: UNSW Sydney. <u>https://nada.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Evidence-brief-NSW-NGO-AOD-services-Ritter-2024.pdf</u>

¹³² O'Reilly K & Ritter A (2024) *Estimates of unmet demand for alcohol and other drug treatment in NSW*. DPMP Evidence hub for the NSW Drug Summit 2024. Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW.

https://www.unsw.edu.au/content/dam/pdfs/ada/sprc/research-reports/dpmp-drug-summit-2024explainers/2024-10-how-many-people-miss-out-on-alcohol-and-other-drug-treatment-in-nsw-dpmp-2024-v2.pdf

¹³³ AADC (2024) Submission to the Inquiry into the health impacts of alcohol and other drugs in Australia <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/House/Health_Aged_Care_and_Sport/Alcoholanddrugs/Submissions</u>

¹³⁴ Gruenewald PJ & Treno A (2006) Understanding the Prevention Paradox: Drinkers and Drinking: A Comment on Skog (2006). Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x</u>

¹³⁵ Haber PS, Riordan BC (2021) *Guidelines for the Treatment of Alcohol Problems (4th edition)*. Specialty of Addiction Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney.

https://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/bitstream/handle/2123/28146/guidelines-for-the-treatment-of-alcohol-problems.pdf ¹³⁶ Rossow I (2006) *Issues for Further Reflections: Comments on Skog (2006)*. Society for the Study of Addiction, 101, 159–165 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01350.x

¹³⁷ Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, et al (2022) *Alcohol: no ordinary commodity: research and public policy.* 3rd Ed. Oxford University Press. (section 1.4)

¹³⁸ Morris J, Boness CL, & Witkiewitz K (2024). Should we promote alcohol problems as a continuum? Implications for policy and practice. *Drugs: Education, Prevention & Policy*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2023.2187681</u>

¹³⁹ Arunogiri S, & Manning V (2023) The impact of a continuum model of alcohol problems on clinical practice: a double-edged sword? Commentary on Morris et al. 'Should we promote alcohol problems as a continuum? Implications for policy and practice.' Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 31(2), 284–286. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2023.2244144

¹⁴⁰ Callinan S & Room R (2024) *Difficulties for practice and multiple continua need more recognition: Commentary on Morris et al. "Should we promote alcohol problems as a continuum? Implications for policy and practice".* Drugs: Education, Prevention & Policy, 31(2), 282–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2023.2238117</u>